# RIGA TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY

Faculty of Power and Electrical Engineering Institute of Industrial Electronics and Electrical Engineering

# **Ingars STEIKS**

Doctoral student of program "Computer control of electrical technology"

# DEVELOPMENT OF POWER ELECTRIC CONVERTERS FOR HYDROGEN ENERGY EQUIPMENT

Summary of doctoral thesis

Scientific supervisor Dr. habil. sc. ing. Professor L.RIBICKIS

**Riga 2011** 

UDK 662.769.2 + 621.314 (043.2) St 267 d

> Steiks I. Development of power electric converters for hydrogen energy equipment. Summary of doctoral thesis.-R.:RTU, 2011.-17pp.

Printed according to the decision of "RTU P-14" from May the 25th, 2011. Protocol No. 56

This work has been supported by the European Social Fund within the project "Support for the implementation of doctoral studies at Riga Technical University".

ISBN 978-9984-49-347-3

# DOCTORATE WORK PRESENTED TO OBTAIN THE DOCTOR'S DEGREE IN ENGINEERING SCIENCES AT RIGA TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY

Doctorate work for the doctor's degree in the engineering sciences was publicity presented on the 2<sup>th</sup> of August 2011 in Riga Technical University, Faculty of Power and Electrical Engineering, Kronvalda blv. 1, room 117.

### OFFICIAL OPPONENTS

Assoc. professor, Dr.sc.ing. Anastasija Ziravecka Riga Technical University, Latvia

Professor, Dr.hab.sc.ing. Andris Sniders Latvia University of Agriculture, Latvia

Senior researcher, Dr.sc.ing. Leonards Latkovskis Laboratory of Power Electronics, Institute of Physical Energetics, Latvia

## CONFIRMATION

Hereby I confirm that I have worked out the present doctorate work, which is submitted for consideration to the Riga Technical University for the degree of Doctor of engineering sciences. Doctorate work has not been submitted in any other university for obtaining the Doctor's degree.

Ingars Steiks .....

Date: 19th of July 2011

The doctorate work is written in Latvian language, contains: 146 pages, introduction, 4 chapters, conclusions, 130 figures, 103 references and 7 appendixes.

# CONTENTS

SIGNIFICANCE OF THE TOPIC
OBJECTIVE OF THE WORK AND FULFILLED TASKS
METHODS AND MEANS OF RESEARCH5
SCIENTIFIC ORIGINALITY
PRACTICAL APPLICATION OF THE WORK
WORK APPROBATION
AUTHOR'S PUBLICATIONS
INVENTIONS7
CONTENTS OF THE DOCTORAL THESIS
INTRODUCTION
1. THE RESEARCH AND ANALYSIS OF THE FUEL CELL'S SYSTEM
2. THE ANALYSIS AND CLASSIFICATION OF POWER CONVERTERS FOR THE EQUIPMENT OF THE FUEL CELL
3. THE SIMULATION OF TOPOLOGIES AND CONTROL FOR THE SYSTEM OF POWER CONVERTERS
4. THE EXPERIMENTAL RESEARCH OF THE POWER CONVERTER FOR THE SYSTEM OF THE FUEL CELL
CONCLUSIONS
REFERENCES

# SIGNIFICANCE OF THE TOPIC

Significant and required work for the systems of electric power supply, and for the applications of the renewable energy resources. The research and development of the power converters for the fuel cell is being carried around the world and especially in EU. The research and development of power converters for the grid connection and for households' applications is important. The connection of the different power fuel cells is allowed by modular power converters.

# **OBJECTIVE OF THE WORK AND FULFILLED TASKS**

The objective of this thesis is to develop power electric converters for hydrogen energy equipment. Several tasks were defined to fulfill the objective:

- The research and analysis of the specifications, serial and parallel connections of the hydrogen fuel cell;
- Classify the possibilities to deliver the electric power of hydrogen fuel cell to the public grid;
- Research, analyze and develop double inductor push-pull converter, and possibility to avoid overvoltage of the power semiconductor switches.
- Research, analyze and develop modular multilevel cascaded direct-current alternatingcurrent converter;
- For the control and feedback of the power electric converters for hydrogen energy equipment using field-programmable gate array.

# METHODS AND MEANS OF RESEARCH

For the research and analysis of the hydrogen fuel cell characteristics, direct-current – direct-current and multilevel direct-current – alternating current power scheme and control mathematical analysis software Matlab is used.

The algorithms of the control and feedback are implemented in field-programmable gate array (FPGA) Xilinx Spartan 3E by Xilinx ISE Webpack 13.1 software.

The experimental research has been carried out at the laboratory of Institute of Industrial Electronics and Electrical Engineering at the Faculty of Power and Electrical Engineering of Riga Technical University.

# SCIENTIFIC ORIGINALITY

The development and experimental verification of the modular hydrogen power converter have been carried out.

The experimental research of serial and parallel connection of fuel cells has been done, and equations of fuel cell's characteristic have been carried out to simulate static operation modes of power converters and fuel cell systems.

An active clamping circuit has been applied for current-fed double inductor pushpull converter to decrease the overshoot of the voltage of main power transistors.

Inventions have been done for hydrogen energy equipment, including: multilevel DC/AC power converter, DC/DC power converter, system with double-layer capacitor and battery, and a power supply with hydrogen's fuel cell.

#### PRACTICAL APPLICATION OF THE WORK

The elaborated current-fed double inductor push-pull converter with the cascaded multilevel DC/AC converter is appropriated for hydrogen power equipment.

Developed power electric converter system for hydrogen energy equipment will be used for autonomous households and for consumers of industrial voltage. Modularity of developed power electric converter system allows adjusting the system to the number of fuel cell stacks by consumer.

The developed laboratory set-up has provided a possibility to improve the algorithms of the control of the cascaded multilevel DC/AC converter including space vector modulation and fuzzy logic control algorithms with computer control equipment DS1103PPC for electrical technology.

#### WORK APPROBATION

- 1. 14<sup>th</sup> international conference "EPE-PEMC 2010", Ohrid, Macedonia, 2010
- 51<sup>th</sup> scientific conference of Riga Technical University: Power and Electrical Engineering, Riga, Latvia, 2010
- 9<sup>th</sup> international symposium ,,Topical Problems in the Field of Electrical and Power Engineering 2010", Parnu, Estonia, 2010
- 8<sup>th</sup> international symposium ,,Topical Problems in the Field of Electrical and Power Engineering 2010", Parnu, Estonia, 2010
- 13<sup>th</sup> European conference on Power Electronics and Applications "EPE 2009", Barcelona, Spain, 2009
- 50<sup>th</sup> scientific conference of Riga Technical University: Power and Electrical Engineering, Riga, Latvia, 2009
- 5<sup>th</sup> international symposium ,,Topical Problems in the Field of Electrical and Power Engineering 2010", Kuressaare, Estonia, 2008
- 4<sup>th</sup> international symposium ,,Topical Problems in the Field of Electrical and Power Engineering 2010", Kuressaare, Estonia, 2007
- 9. The IEEE Industry Applications Society Workshop, Renewable Energy Based Units and Systems, St. Petersburg, Russia, 2006
- 3<sup>th</sup> international symposium "Topical Problems in the Field of Electrical and Power Engineering 2010", Kuressaare, Estonia, 2006

#### AUTHOR'S PUBLICATIONS

- A.Andreiciks, I.Steiks, O.Krievs and L.Ribickis ,,Current-fed DC/DC converter for fuel cell applications", EPE-PEMC 2010,Ohrid, Macedonia, 2010, ISBN 978-1-4244-7854-5 (IEEE datubāze)
- I.Steiks, L.Ribickis "Capacitor divider voltage monitoring by using Field-Programmable Gate Array (FPGA)", EPE-PEMC 2010, Ohrid, Macedonia, 2010, ISSN 978-1-4244-7854-5 (IEEE datubāze)
- A.Andreiciks, I.Steiks and O.Krievs ,,Current-fed Step-up DC/DC converter for Fuel Cell Applications with active Overvoltage Clamping", Scientific Journal of Riga Technical University: Power and Electrical Engineering, Riga, Latvia Volume 27, 2010, ISSN 1407-7345
- O.Krievs, I.Steiks and L.Ribickis "A PLL Scheme for Synchronization with Grid Voltage Phasor in Active Power Filter Systems", Scientific Journal of Riga Technical

University: Power and Electrical Engineering, Riga, Latvia, Volume 27, 2010, ISSN 1407-7345

- I.Steiks, O.Krievs and L.Ribickis , A PLL for Estimation of the Voltage Vector Position in a Parallel Active Filter System", 8th International Symposium Topical Problems in the Field of Electrical and Power Engineering, Parnu, Estonia, 2010, ISBN 978-9985-69-049-9
- A.Andreiciks, I.Steiks, L.Ribickis "An active clamping current-fed double inductor push-pull converter with current control model for fuel cell applications", 9th International Symposium Topical Problems in the Field of Electrical and Power Engineering, Parnu, Estonia, 2010, ISBN 978-9985-9089-3-8
- A.Purvins, O.Krievs, I.Steiks and L.Ribickis "Influence of the Current Ripple on the Hydrogen Fuel Cell Powered Inverter System Efficiency", EPE 2009, Barcelona, Spain, 2009, ISBN 9789075815009 (EPE datubāze)
- A.Andreiciks, K.Vitols, O.Krievs, I.Steiks "Current Fed Step-up DC/DC converter for fuel cell inverter applications", Scientific Journal of Riga Technical University: Power and Electrical Engineering, Riga, Latvia, Volume 25, 2009, ISSN 1407-7345
- 9. I.Steiks, L.Ribickis "Voltage Monitoring on Capacitor of Modular Multilevel Converter", Scientific Journal of Riga Technical University: Power and Electrical Engineering, Riga, Latvia, Volume 25, 2009, ISSN 1407-7345
- I.Steiks, A.Purvins, O.Krievs, L.Ribickis, J.Greivulis "Modelling of a high efficiency DC/DC converter for the PEM fuel cell system", 5th International Symposium Topical Problems in the Field of Electrical and Power Engineering, Kuressaare, Estonia, 2008, ISBN 978-9985-69-046-8
- A.Purvins, I.Steiks, O.Krievs, L.Ribickis ,,Modelling of a Low voltage PEM Fuel Cell Hybrid System", 4th International Symposium Topical Problems in the Field of Electrical and Power Engineering, Kuressaare, Estonia, 2007, ISBN 978-9985-69-041-3
- A.Purvins, I.Steiks, O.Krievs, L.Ribickis "Integrated auxiliary power supply unit for a polymer electrolyte membrane fuel cell", The IEEE Industry Applications Society Workshop, Renewable Energy Based Units and Systems, St. Petersburg, Russia, 2006, ISBN 83-7457-005-9
- A.Purvins, O.Krievs, I.Steiks, L.Ribickis "Design of power circuit of DC/DC step-up converter for a PEM fuel cell", 3th International Symposium Topical Problems in the Field of Electrical and Power Engineering, Kuressaare, Estonia, 2006, ISBN 9985-69-036-2

#### INVENTIONS

- A.Purvins, I.Steiks, O.Krievs, L.Ribickis "Multilevel direct-current alternating current power converter with fuel cell of the hydrogen", Patent Office of the Republic of Latvia, 20.08.2009., Nr. LV 13948 B
- A.Purvins, J.Greivulis, I.Steiks, O.Krievs, L.Ribickis "Direct-current direct-current power converter with fuel cell of hydrogen", Patent Office of the Republic of Latvia, 20.12.2008., Nr. LV 13804 B
- A.Purvins, J.Greivulis, I.Steiks, O.Krievs, L.Ribickis ",The system of hydrogen's fuel cell with double-layer capacitor and battery", Patent Office of the Republic of Latvia, 20.12.2008., Nr. LV 13803 B
- A.Purvins, J.Greivulis, I.Steiks, O.Krievs, L.Ribickis "Power supply with hydrogen's fuel cell", Patent Office of the Republic of Latvia, 20.11.2008., Nr. LV 13774 B

#### CONTENTS OF THE DOCTORAL THESIS

#### INTRODUCTION

- 1. THE RESEARCH AND ANALYSIS OF THE FUEL CELL'S SYSTEM
- 2. THE ANALYSIS AND CLASSIFICATION OF POWER CONVERTERS FOR THE EQUIPMENT OF THE FUEL CELL
- 3. THE SIMULATION OF TOPOLOGIES AND CONTROL FOR THE SYSTEM OF POWER CONVERTERS
- 4. THE EXPERIMENTAL RESEARCH OF THE POWER CONVERTER FOR THE SYSTEM OF THE FUEL CELL

CONCLUSIONS REFERENCES APPENDIXES

## INTRODUCTION

Every year the hydrogen power industry has been increasingly integrated in different type of vehicles, power supply of autonomous households and back-up power supplies. The research of the alternative for the fossil energy resources stimulates swift growth of the hydrogen energetics. This thesis is devoted to development of power electric converters for the hydrogen energy equipment, as the research and development of the power converters for the fuel cell is being carried around the world and especially in EU.

Development of power electric converters for the hydrogen energy equipment could be divided in to two parts: one of them consists of the analysis and research of hydrogen energy equipment, and the second part consists of the research of power converters.

For the autonomous power supply or for the grid applications the output voltage of the hydrogen fuel cells is relatively low. One of the solutions to avoid this problem is to connect fuel cell in series, but, in the case of parallel connection, more power at the same voltage level can be carried out.

It is possible to increase or to decrease low and variable output voltage of the fuel cell by using power electronic converters. Increasing the voltage is more rational solution in order to decrease the active losses created by current. For the multiple voltages increasing transformers are being used, at the same time providing galvanic isolation of input and output. The galvanic isolation between the hydrogen power equipment and the high voltage provides additional protection for the hydrogen power equipment.

Increased voltage levels are rarely used in household applications, therefore creating a necessity for the direct-current/alternating-current power converter.

Another problem of power converters is commutation process of high current with high frequencies that cause overvoltage on semiconductor devices and are source of electromagnetic interference. The usage of an active clamping circuit is recommended to decrease the overvoltage on semiconductor devices of direct-current step-up converter. Whereas, the usage of the multilevel direct-current / alternating-current power converter divides the output voltage multiple voltage levels, therefore decreasing the increase of the voltage and the current during period of time.

The objective of this thesis is to develop power electric converters for hydrogen energy equipment, and to fulfill the objective following tasks are defined. First of all, to carry out the research and analysis of the hydrogen power equipment this also includes its simulation results, and the research and analysis of serial and parallel connection.

Secondly, to carry out the development and research of power electric converters for the hydrogen energy equipment, this also includes development/research of suitable direct-current / direct-current step-up converter and suitable multilevel direct-current / alternating-current topologies and control circuit.



# 1. THE RESEARCH AND ANALYSIS OF THE FUEL CELL'S SYSTEM

Fig.1. Distribution of the first chapter is represented

During the last twenty years, the increasing price of the fossil resources (Fig.2.) has stimulated the usage of alternative power supply technologies, e.g., the usage of fuel cell to obtain electric and thermal energy. One of the advantages of the fuel cell is their available power range starting form few watts up to megawatts, and also their integration in autonomous power supply.



Fig.2. Changes of the crude oil prices from 1869 till 2009

The classical power converter topologies could be applied in order to use fuel cells. The Volt-Ampere (VA) characteristic of the fuel cell represents necessity to adopt control of the power converter, e.g., the output voltage of the fuel cell at no load operation is 50 V, but increasing the load current – the output voltage decreases up to 26V. One of disadvantages of the fuel cell is their inertial electrochemical process compared to capacitors and batteries at swift load changes. Development of analytical model of the fuel cell is useful in order to analytically and practically develop power converters, and to improve precision of the control. By obtaining the experimental data of fuel cell's VA characteristic and by using polynomial approximation it is possible to develop analytical VA characteristic of fuel cell. Analytical VA characteristic can be used for the control program of the power converter and also for the mathematical software. Polynomial approximation of fuel cell VA:

• Series connected fuel cell module 2:

$$P_{DE2\_vir} = -0,185i^2 + 37,133i + 15,67,$$
(1.)

• Series connected fuel cell module 1:

$$P_{DE1\_vir} = -0.1962i^2 + 35.829i + 19.03 , \qquad (2.)$$

• Parallel connected fuel cell module 2:

$$P_{DE2\_par} = -0.1979i^2 + 38.171i + 10.528, \qquad (3.)$$

• Parallel connected fuel cell module 1:

$$P_{DE1 \ par} = -0.2235i^2 + 37.745i + 9.9914.$$
(4.)

In the cases of the series and parallel connections of the fuel cell it is important to consider the fact, that when increasing the load the necessity of power balances possibilities occurs. At the nominal load power of the fuel cell in series connection load difference is 7.9%, but in case of parallel connection - 13.7%. In case of the series connection the load current difference is 0.9%, but the difference of the output voltage of fuel cell is 7.1%. In case of parallel connection the difference of the output voltage of fuel cell is 7.1%. In case of parallel connection the difference of load voltage is 0.7%, but the load current differs by 13%. The difference of temperature of fuel cell modules at series connection is 4.9%, but in case of parallel connection - 0.6% at nominal load of fuel cell. The main reason of unequal load balance between fuel cells is their inertial electrochemical process, and the age of fuel cell. Laboratory set-up for fuel cell investigations is depictured by Fig.3.



Fig.3. Laboratory set-up of fuel cell modules

# 2. THE ANALYSIS AND CLASSIFICATION OF POWER CONVERTERS FOR THE EQUIPMENT OF THE FUEL CELL

The delivery of the electric power to the grid obtained during the electrochemical process of the fuel cell may serve as back-up power supply system or, e.g., supply autonomous household with electric power. To deliver the electric power to the grid it is recommended to use high-frequency inverter with current feedback.

Comparing three topologies of direct-current high-frequency power converters, current-fed double inductor push-pull converter is considered to be the most appropriate

(Fig. 4.). This kind of topology allows decreasing the ripple of the input current and also eliminates divided primary winding of transformer. The electrical process is depictured by Fig.5.



Fig.4. Current-fed double inductor push-pull converter with active clamping



By caring out the analysis of the topologies of multilevel inverters, the cascaded modular multilevel converter (Fig. 6.) has been chosen as most suitable; because of the requirement for the isolated power supply is fulfilled by fuel cells. In the case of the cascaded modular multilevel converter the number of used component is a  $\sim$ 1.4 time smaller in the case of flying capacitor topology and  $\sim$ 1.8 time smaller in the case of neutral point clamped topology converter.



Fig. 6.att. the cascaded modular multilevel converter

# 3. THE SIMULATION OF TOPOLOGIES AND CONTROL FOR THE SYSTEM OF POWER CONVERTERS

In this chapter an active clamping current-fed double inductor push-pull converter analytical model is created in Matlbab/Simulink; possible switch state combinations are also provided. This chapter also includes the cascaded modular multilevel converter with appropriate output voltage waveform diagram and possible switch state combination's table is also provided. It has been noticed that changes of THD is within range of  $\pm 1\%$  in the case of multiple carrier signal level-shifted topologies. If the frequency of carrier signal has been increased or decreased, the THD remains in the range of  $\pm 1\%$ .

This chapter also includes the control algorithm of an active clamping current-fed double inductor push-pull converter written in VHDL language. There is realized output voltage feedback also.

The control of the cascaded modular multilevel converter is represented in VHDL language. The load varies after each period of output waveform to balance it over modules.

# 4. THE EXPERIMENTAL RESEARCH OF THE POWER CONVERTER FOR THE SYSTEM OF THE FUEL CELL

This chapter includes experiments of power electric converter for hydrogen energy equipment (functional scheme by Fig.7.) and they are separated in three parts.

First of all, an active clamping current-fed double inductor push-pull converter prototype has been build and control of converters is implemented in FGPA hardware. An experimental verification has been done (laboratory set-up by Fig.8.)

Secondly, 7-level cascaded modular multilevel converter has been built and power balance algorithm implemented in FPGA hardware. Experimental results approve appropriate working conditions.

Third, galvanic isolated voltage measurement circuit has been developed with auxiliary direct-current / direct-current converter. There also is realized control algorithm to measure the frequency of the square-waveform signal and its implementation in FGPA has been verified.



Occiloscoper Unerter DC/DC step-up converter Converter DC/DC step-up converter Conv

Fig.7. Functional scheme of power electric converter for hydrogen energy equipment

Fig. 8. Laboratory set-up of converters

# CONCLUSIONS

Hydrogen power is a promising alternative to the growing usage of the fossil energy resources and to the increasing prices of non-renewable resources. Although the usage of the fuel cell for electric vehicle may be considered as a trend, its rational to use it for back-up, and household application and to electrify industrial buildings. Development and research of

power electric converters for hydrogen energy equipment has been done including step-up direct-current / direct-current power converter and cascaded modular multilevel converter development and research.

The experimental research of the fuel cell module has been done, proving, that the VA characteristic creates hysteresis, therefore approving its inertia of electrochemical process, what is a disadvantage of the fuel cell. By obtaining the experimental data of fuel cell's VA characteristic and by using polynomial approximation it is possible to develop analytical VA characteristic of fuel cell. Analytical VA characteristic can be used for the development of the power converters.

As novelty the series and parallel connections of the fuel cell experimental investigation has been done. It is important to consider the fact, that when increasing the load the necessity of power balances possibilities occurs. At the nominal load power of the fuel cell in series connection load difference is 7.9%, but in case of parallel connection - 13.7%.

Compared topologies of direct-current high-frequency power converters, current-fed double inductor push-pull converter is considered to be the most appropriate in this thesis. This kind of topology allows decreasing the ripple of the input current and also eliminates divided primary winding of the transformer. To avoid the overvoltage of the power semiconductor switches, an active clamping circuit with two semiconductor switches and a capacitor has been applied.

By caring out the analysis of the topologies of multilevel inverters, the cascaded modular multilevel converter has been chosen as most suitable for this particular case; because of the requirement for the isolated power supply is fulfilled by fuel cells. It also uses fewer components compared to neutral point clamped topology converter ( $\sim$ 1.8 times).

The simulation results of the cascaded modular multilevel converter prove that the THD remains in the range of  $\pm 1\%$  in the case of changing frequency of carrier signal.

The unbalanced load between the cascaded modular multilevel converter modules has been avoided by adding appropriate control algorithm sequence.

The prototype of the power electric converter for hydrogen energy equipment has been developed, consisting of: an active clamping current-fed double inductor push-pull converter; the cascaded modular multilevel converter and voltage measuring circuit with appropriate auxiliary power supply. The control of the power electric converter for hydrogen energy equipment has been realized by FPGA hardware.

The development of power electric converters for the hydrogen energy equipment is still the one of the state-of-art topics. That is proven by, first, thesis approbation in international conferences [6]-[9],[95],[96], secondly, author's publications [76], [77], [79], [80], [94] and thirdly, author's inventions registered at Patent Office of the Republic of Latvia:

- Multilevel direct-current alternating current power converter with fuel cell of the hydrogen [73];
- Direct-current direct-current power converter with fuel cell of hydrogen [75];
- The system of hydrogen's fuel cell with double-layer capacitor and battery [74];
- Power supply with hydrogen's fuel cell [78].

#### REFERENCES

- [1] Abu-Rub, H.; Holtz, J.; Rodriguez, J.; Baoming, G., "Medium-Voltage Multilevel Converters-State of the Art, Challenges, and Requirements in Industrial Applications," IEEE TRANSACTIONS ON INDUSTRIAL ELECTRONICS, vol. 57, no. 8, 2010.
- [2] Aiello, M.F.; Hammondi, P.W.; Rastogi, M., Modular multi-level adjustable supply with parallel connected active inputs. ASV patents, Oktobris 2001, Nr.6 301 130,
- [3] Aiello, M.F.; Hammondi, P.W.; Rastogi, M., Modular multi-level adjustable supply with series connected active inputs. ASV patents, Maijs 2001. Nr.6 236 580.
- [4] Andersen, G.K.; Klumpner, C.; Kjaer, S.B.; Blaabjerg, F., "A New Green Power Inverter for Fuel Cells," Proceedings of IEEE PESC'02, vol. 2 2002
- [5] Anderson, M.; Alvesten, B., "200 W Low Cost Module Integrated Utility Interactive for Modular Photovoltaic Energy Systems," Proceedings IEEE IECON '95, vol. 1, 1995.
- [6] Andreiciks, A.; Steiks, I.; Krievs, O., Current-fed step-up DC/DC converter for fuel cell applications with active overvoltage clamping. Riga: Riga Technical University, 2010, vol. 27, Scientific Journal of Riga Technical University.
- [7] Andreiciks, A.; Steiks, I.; Krievs, O.; Ribickis, L., Current-fed DC/DC converter for fuel cell applications. Ohrid: EPE-PEMC, 2010.
- [8] Andreiciks, A.; Steiks, I.; Ribickis, L., An active current-fed double inductor push-pull converter with current control model for fuel cell applications. Parnu: Estonian Society of Moritz Hermann Jacobi, 2010. 19] Andreiciks, A.; Vitols, K.; Krievs, O.; Steiks, L. Current fed sten-up DC/DC Converter for Fuel cell inverter applications, Riga: Riga
- Technical university, 2009.
- [10] Baker, R. H., Electric Power Converter. ASV patents, Februaris 1975, Nr. 3.867.643.
- [11] Baker, R. H., High-Voltage Converter Circuit. ASV patents, Maijs 1980, http://www.freepatentsonline.com/4203151.pdf.
- [12] Baker, R.H., Bridge converter circuit. ASV, May 1981.
- [13] Baker, R.H., Switching circuit. ASV patents, Jülijs 1980, Nr.4 210 826.
- [14] Ballard Power System, Nexa Power Module Integration Guide., 2003.
- [15] Ballard Power Systems, Nexa Power Module User's Manual: MAN5100078., 2006.
- [16] Barbir, F., PEM Fuel Cells. London, Lielbritānija: Elsevier, 2005.
- [17] Barros, J.D.; Silva, J.F., "Optimal predictive control of three-phase NPC multilevel converter for power quality applications," IEEE Trans.Ind. Electron., vol. 55, no. 10, 2008.
- [18] Beinhold, G.; Jacob, R.; Nahrstaedt, M., A new range of medium voltage multilevel inverter drives with floating capacitor technology.: Power Proc. European Electronics Conf. 2001. http://www.epeassociation.org/epe/documents.download.php?type=view&documents\_id=2174.
- [19] Bhat, A.K.S.; Dewan, S.B., "A Novel Utility Interfaced High-Frequency Link Photovoltaic Power Conditioning System," IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics, vol. 35, no. 1, 1988.
- [20] Bhat, A.K.S.; Dewan, S.B., "Analysis and Design of a High-Frequency Link DC to Utility Interface Using Square-Wave Output Resonant Inverter," IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 3, 1988.
- [21] Bhat, A.K.S.; Dewan, S.B., "DC-to-Utility Interface Using Sinewave Resonant Inverter," IEEE Proceedings, vol. 135, no. 5, 1988.
- [22] Bhat, A.K.S.; Dewan, S.B., "Resonant Inverters for Photo Voltaic Array to Utility Interface," IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems, vol. 24, no. 4, 1988.
- [23] Bhat, A.K.S.; Swamy, M.M., "Analysis of Parallel resonant Converter Operating Above Resonance," IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems, vol. 25, 1989.
- [24] Bonte, L.; Baert, D., "A Low Distortion PWM DC-AC Inverter with Active Current and Voltage Control, Allowing Line-Interfaced and Stand-Alone Photovoltaic Applications," IEEE INTELEC'82, 1982.
- [25] Brandon, N.; Thompsett, D., Fuel Cell Compedium. London, Lielbritänija: Elsevier, 2005.
- [26] Cocconi, A.; Cuk, S.; Middlebrook, R., High-Frequency Isolated 4kW Photovoltaic Inverter for Utility Interface., 1983.
- [27] Corzine, K. A., Operation and Design of Multilevel Inverters.: Developed for the Office of Naval Research, 2005, http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.124.2866&rep=rep1&type=pdf.
- [28] Corzine, K.; Familiant, Y., A new cascaded multilevel H-bridge drive., 2002, vol. 17
- [29] De Aragao Filho, W.C.P.; Barbi, I., A comparison between two current-fed push-pull dc-dc converters analysis, design and experimentation .: IEEE, 1996.
- [30] De Souza, K.C.A.; De Castro, M.R.; Antunes, F., "A DC/AC Converter for Single-Phase Grid-Connected Photovoltaic Systems," Proceeding IEEE IECON '02, vol. 4, 2002.
- [31] Duba, G. A.; Thaxton, E. S.; Walter, J., Modular Static Power Converter Connected in a Multi-Level, Multi-Phase, Multi-Circuit Configuration. ASV patents, Augusts 1999, Nr. 5.933.339.
- [32] Eichenberg, D.J., The Fuel Cell Powered Club Car Carryall. Cleveland: National Aeronautics and Space Administration, 2005. [33] Famouri, P.; Gemmen, R.S., Electrochemical circuit model of a PEM fuel cell. New York: IEEE, 2003.
- [34] Fazel, S.S., "Investigation and comparison of multi-level converters for medium voltage applications," Technische Universität Berlin, Berlin, PhD Thesis 2007.
- [35] Felix, J. P., Modulation and Control of three-phase PWM Multilevel Converters, Spänija: Katalonijas Tehniskā universitāte, 2002. http://www.tesisenxarxa.net/TDX-0921104-155059/index.html.
- [36] Fox, D.A.; Shuey, K.C.; Stechschulte, D.L., "Peak Power Tracking Technique for Photovoltaic Arrays," IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference, 1979.
- [37] Fracchia, M.; Ghiara, T.; Marchesoni, M.; Mazz, M., Optimized Modulation Techniques for the Generalized N-Level Converter.: Proceedings of the IEEE Power Electronics Specialist Conference, 1992, vol. 2.
- [38] Franquelo, L.G.; Rodriguez, J.L.; Leon, J.; Kouro, S.; Portillo, R.; Prats, M.A., "The age of multilevel converters arrives," IEEE Ind. Electron. Mag., vol. 2, no. 2, 2008.
- [39] Fujimao, H.; Kuroki, K.; Kagotani, T.; Kidoguch, H., "Photovoltaic Inverter with a Novel Cycloconverter for Interconnection to a Utility Line," Proceedings of IEEE IAS'95, vol. 3, 1995. [40] Gurunathan, R., "Auxiliary Circuit Assisted Soft-switching Techniques and their Application to Power Converters," Electrical and Computer
- Engineering, University of Victoria, Victoria, PhD Thesis 1999.
- [41] Hammond, P. W., Medium Voltage PWM Drive and Method. ASV patents, Aprilis 1997, Nr. 5.625.545.
- [42] Hammond, P.W., "A new approach to enhance power quality for medium voltage AC drives," IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl., vol. 33, no. 1, 1997. [43] Herrmann, U.; Langer, H.G.; Van Der Broeck, H., "Low Cost DC to AC Converter for Photovoltaic Power Conversion in Residential Applications," Proceedings IEEE PESC'93, 1993.
- [44] Holmes, D.G.; Lipo, T.A., Pulse Width Modulation for Power Converters.: Wiley Interscience, 2003.
- [45] Jin-Tae Kim; Byoung-Kuk Lee; Tae-Won Lee; Su-Jin Jang; Soo-Seok Kim; Chung-Yuen Won, An Active Clamping Current-Fed Half Bridge Converter for Fuel Cell Generation Systems. Aachen: IEEE, 2004.
- [46] Khersonsky, Y., Step Switched PWM Sine Generator. ASV patents, Aprīlis 2003, Nr. 6.556.461.
- [47] Khomfoi, S.; Tolbert, L.M., Multilevel Power Converters. The University of Tenessee, http://web.eccs.utk.edu/ [20.05.2011.].
   [48] Krievs, O.; Steiks, I.; Ribickis, L., A PLL Scheme for Synchronization with Grid Voltage Phasor in Active Power Filter Systems. Riga: Riga Technical University, 2010, vol. 27, Scientific Journal of Riga Technical University.

[49] Lai, J.S.; Peng, F.Z., "Multilevel converters—A new breed of power converters," IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl., vol. 32, no. 3, 1996. [50] Larminie, J.; Dicks, A., Fuel Cell Systems Explained, 2nd ed. London, Lielbritänija: Wiley, 2003.

[51] Li, Q.; Wolfs, P., "The Analysis of the Power Loss in A Zero-Voltage Switching Two-Inductor Boost Cell Operating Under Different Circuit parameters," Proceedings IEEE APEC'05, vol. 3, 2005.

- [52] Lin, L.; Zou, Y.; Wang, Z.; Jin, H., "Modeling and control of neutral point voltage balancing problem in three-level NPC PWM inverters," Proc. 36th IEEE PESC, 2005.
- [53] Lohner, A.; Meyer, T.; Nagel, A., "A New Panel-Integratable Inverter Concept for Grid-Connected Photovoltaic Systems," Proceedings IEEE ISIE'96, vol. 2, 1996.
- [54] Manguelle, J.S.; Mariethoz, S.; Veenstra, M.; Rufer, A., "A Generalized Design Principle of a Uniform Step Asymmetrical Multilevel Converter For High Power Conversion," European Conference http://leiwww.epfl.ch/publications/song mariethoz veenstra rufer epe 01.pdf. European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications, 2001.
- [55] Manjrekar, M.; Lipo, T., "A hybrid multilevel inverter topology for drive applications," Proc. IEEE Appl. Power Electron. Conf., vol. 2, 1998.
- [56] Manjrekar, M.; Steimer, P.; Lipo, T., "Hybrid multilevel power conversion system: A competitive solution for high-power applications," vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 834-841., Maijs 2000, http://www.ece.wisc.edu/~lipo/1999pub/99-21T.pdf.
- [57] Marchesoni M., High-performance current control techniques for applications to multilevel high-power voltage source inverters.: IEEE Trans on Power Electronics, 1992, vol. 7.
- [58] Marchesoni, M.; Tenca, P., Theoretical and Practical Limits in Multilevel MPC Inverters with Passive Front Ends. Graz, Austrija: EPE, 2001, http://www.epe-association.org/epe/documents.download.php?type=view&documents\_id=2186. [59] Martins, D.C.; Demonti, R., "Grid Connected PV System Using two Energy Processing Stages," 29th IEEE Photovoltaic Specialists
- Conference, 2002.
- [60] Martins, D.C.; Demonti, R., "Interconnection of Photovoltaic Panels Array to a Single-Phase Utility Line from a Static Conversion System," Proceedings of IEEE PESC'00, vol. 3, 2000.
- [61] Martins, D.C.; Demonti, R., "Photovoltaic Energy Processing for Utility Connected System," Proceedings IECON '01, vol. 2, 2001.
- [62] Martins, D.C.; Demonti, R.; Barbi, I., "Usage of the Solar Energy from the Photovoltaic Panels for the Generation of Electrical Energy," Proceedings of IEEE IN TELEC'99, 1999.
- [63] Martins, D.C.; Demonti, R.; Ruther, R., "Analysis of Utility Interactive Photovoltaic Generation System Using a Single Power Static Inverter," Proceedings of IEEE Photovoltaic Specialists Conference, 2000. [64] Mekhilef, S.; Rahim, N.A.; Omar, A.M., "A New Solar Energy Conversion Scheme Implemented Using Grid-Tied Single Phase Inverter,"
- Proceedings IEEE TEN CON '00, vol. 3, 2000.
- [65] Meynard, T. A.; Foch, H., Multi-level Conversion: High Voltage Choppers and Voltage-source Inverters.: Proceedings of the IEEE Power Electronics Specialist Conference, 1992, (IEEE datu baze).
- [66] Meynard, T. A.; Foch, H.; Thomas, P.; Courault, J.; Jakob, R.; Nahrstaedt, M., Multicell Converters: Basic Concepts and Industry Applications.: IEEE Trans. on Industrial Electronics, 2002, vol. 5, (IEEE datu baze).
- [67] Mohan, N.; Undeland, T.; Robbins, W.P., Power Electronics. Converters, Applications and Design.: John Wiley & Sons, 2003.
- [68] Nabae, A.; Takahashi, I.; Akagi, H., "A new neutral-point clamped PWM inverter," Conf. Rec. IEEE Ind. Appl. Soc. Annu. Meeting, 1980.
- [69] Nome, F.J.; Barbi, I., A ZVS Clamping Mode Current-Fed Push-Pull DC-DC Converter.: IEEE, 1998, ISIE'98.
  [70] Ojo, O.; Konduru, S., "A discontinuous carrier-based PWM modulation method for the control of neutral point voltage of three phase three-
- level diode clamped converters," Proc. 36th IEEE Annu. Power Electron. Spec. Conf., 2005. [71] Pitel, I.J., "Phase-Modulated Resonant Power Conversion Techniques for High-Frequency Link Inverters," IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications, vol. 22, no. 6, 1986.
- [72] Purvins, A., Dynamic characteristics and power electronic converters of the hydrogen fuel cell systems. Riga, 2008, Doctoral thesis
- [76] Purvins, A.; Krievs, O.; Steiks, I.; Ribickis, L., Design of power circuit of DC/DC step-up converter for a PEM fuel cell. Kuressare, Estonia:

Estonian Society of Moritz Hermann Jacobi, 2006.

- [77] Purvins, A.; Krievs, O.; Steiks, I.; Ribickis, L., Influence of the current ripple on the hydrogen fuel cell powered inverter system efficiency. Barcelona: EPE, 2009.
- [79] Purvins, A.; Steiks, I.; Krievs, O.; Ribickis, L., Integrated auxilary power sypply unit for a polymer electrolyte membrane fuel cell. St.Petersburg: The IEEE Industry Applications Society Workshop, 2006. [80] Purvins, A.; Steiks, I.; Krievs, O.; Ribickis, L., Modelling of a low voltage PEM Fuel Cell Hybrid System. Kuressaare: Estonian Society of
- Moritz Hermann Jacobi, 2007.
- [73] Purviņš, A.; Greivulis, J.; Steiks, I.; Krievs, O.; Ribickis, L., Barošanas avots ar ūdeņraža degvielas elementu. Rīga: Latvijas Republikas Patentu valde, 2008, patents
- [74] Purviņš, A.; Greivulis, J.; Steiks, I.; Krievs, O.; Ribickis, L., Līdzstrāvas līdzstrāvas enerģijas pārveidotājs ar ūdeņraža degvielas elementu. Rīga: Latvijas Republikas Patentu valde, 2008, patents.
- [78] Purviņš, A.; Steiks, I.; Krievs, O.; Ribickis, L., Daudzlīmeņu līdzstrāvas maiņstrāvas enerģijas pārveidotājs ar ūdeņraža degvielas elementu. Rīga: Latvijas Republikas Patentu valde, 2009, patents
- [75] A. Purviņš, J. Greivulis, I. Steiks, O. Krievs, and L. Ribickis, Ūdeņraža degvielas elementa sistēma ar divslāņu kondesatoru un bateriju. Rīga: Latvijas Republikas Patentu valde, 2008, patents.
- [81] Rajagopalan, V., "Analysis and Design of a Dual Series Resonant Converter for Utility Interface," Proceedings of IEEE PESC'1987, 1987.
  [82] Rajagopalan, V.; Al Haddad, K.; Ayer, J., "Innovative Utility-Interactive D.C. to A.C. Power Conditioning System," Proceedings of IEEE
- IECON '85, vol. 2, 1985.
- [83] Ranganathan, V.T.; Ziogas, P.D.; Stefanovic, V.R., "A DC-AC power conversion technique using twin resonant high frequency links," IEEE Industry Applications Society Annual Meeting, vol. 17, 1982
- [84] Raņķis, I., Energoelektronika. Rīga: Rīgas Tehniskā universitāte, 2002.
- [85] Rodriguez, J.; Lai, J. S.; Zheng Peng, F., Multilevel inverters: a survey of topologies, control and applications.: IEEE Trans. on Industrial. 49 Application 2002, vol http://www.dee.ufc.br/~fantunes/Eletronica%20de%20potencia%20II%20-%20Pos%20Grad/Multi\_Level\_Topologies\_Survey.pdf.
- [86] Sedghisigarchi, K.; Feliachi, A., Dynamic and transient analysis of power distribution systems with fuel Cells-part I: fuel-cell dynamic model, 10th ed. New York: IEEE, 2004, vol. 2.
- [87] Singh, B.; Al-Haddad, K.; Chandra, A., "A review of active filters for power qualityimprovements," IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics, vol. 46, no. 5, 1999.
- [88] Song, S.G.; Kang, F.S.; Park, S.J., "Cascaded multilevel inverter employing three-phase transformers and single dc input," IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron., vol. 56, no. 6, 2009.
- [89] Srinivasan, S., Fuel Cells From Fundamentals to Aplications. New York, ASV: Springer, 2006.
- [90] Steigerwald, R.L., "A Comparison of Half-Bridge Resonant Converter Topologies," IEEE Trans. on Power Electronics, vol. 3, no. 2, 1988. [91] Steigerwald, R.L., "High-Frequency Resonant Transistor DC-DC Converters," IEEE Trans. on Industrial Electronics, vol. 31, no. 2, 1984.
- [92] Steigerwald, R.L.; Tompkins, R.E., "A Comparison of High-Frequency Link Schemes for Interfacing a DC Source to a Utility Grid," Proceedings IEEE IAS'82, vol. 17, 1982
- [93] Steiks, I.; Krievs, O.; Ribickis, L., A PLL scheme for estimation of the voltage vector position in parallel active filter system. Parnu: Estonian Society of Moritz Hermann Jacobi, 2010.
- [94] Steiks, I.; Purvins, A.; Krievs, O.; Ribickis, L.; Greivulis, J., Modelling of a high efficiency DC/DC converter for PEM fuel cell system. Kuressaare: Estonian Society of Moritz Hermann Jacobi, 2008.

[95] Steiks, L.; Ribickis, L., Capacitor divider voltage monitoring by using Field-Programmable Gate Array (FPGA). Ohrid: EPE-PEMC, 2010. [96] I. Steiks and L. Ribickis, Voltage monitoring on capacitor of modular multilevel converter. Riga: Riga Technical university, 2009. [97] Takebayashi, T.; Nakata, H.; Eguchi, M.; Kodama, H., "New Current Feed Back Control Method for Solar Energy Inverter Using Digital Signal Processor," Proceedings of IEEE Power Conversion Conference, vol. 2, 1997.

[98] 8] H. Terai et al., "Utility-Interactive Solar Photovoltaic Power Conditioner with Soft Switching Sine Wave Modulated Inverter for Residential Applications," Proceedings IEEE PESC'02, vol. 3, 2002.

[99] Veenstra, M.; Rufer, A., "Control of a hybrid asymmetric multilevel inverter for competitive medium-voltage industrial drives," IEEE

[10] Viensta, M., Kuet, A., Conto of a hybrid asymmetric multicele inverse for competitive mediatin-voltage mediatin drives, in EE Trans. Ind. Appl., vol. 42, no. 2, 2005.
 [100] Wang, X.; Kazerani, M., "A Modular Photo-Voltaic Grid-Connected Inverter Based on Phase-Shifted-Carrier Technique," Proceedings of IEEE IAS'02 annual meeting, vol. 4, 2002.
 [101] Xilins, Spartan-3E Starter Kit Board User Guide: Xilinx, Inc, 2006, http://www.xilinx.com.
 [102] Xu, D.; Wu, B., "Multilevel current source inverters with phase-shifted trapezoidal PWM," Proc. 36th IEEE Annu. Power Electron. Spec.

Conf., 2005.

[103] D. Yu and S. Yuvarajan, A Novel Circuit Model for PEM Fuel Cells. New York: IEEE, 2004.

Ingars STEIKS

# Development of power electric converters for hydrogen energy equipment

Summary of doctoral thesis

Calculation 20 copies. Printed and bound at the RTU, 1 Kronvalda blv., Riga LV- 1010, Latvia